IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2010-WC-00535-COA

BRITTON & KOONTZ BANK, N.A. AND AMFED NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

FLORENCE TOWNSEND

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF ADAMS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

08-KV-0132-S

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS BRITTON & KOONTZ BANK, N.A. AND AMFED NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

SUBMITTED BY:

ANDERSON CRAWLEY & BURKE, PLLC DANIEL P. CULPEPPER/MB JAMES M. ANDERSON/MB POST OFFICE BOX 2540 RIDGELAND, MS 39158-2540 TELEPHONE: (601) 707-8800 FACSIMILE: (601) 707-8801 Attorney for Appellants Britton & Koontz Bank, N.A. and AmFed National Insurance Company

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. WHETHER THE WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION HAS AUTHORITY TO ASSESS THE EMPLOYER/CARRIER WITH INTEREST
- B. WHETHER THE WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERRED IN ASSESSING INTEREST TO THE EMPLOYER/CARRIER IN THIS MATTER WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING OR PETITION TO CONTROVERT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal involves a review of the decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission (Commission) ordering Britton & Koontz First National Bank (Employer) and its workers' compensation carrier, AmFed National Insurance Company (Carrier), to pay the claimant interest in the total amount \$3,882.15. The Commission erroneously found that the Claimant was entitled to interest at the legal rate on compensation payments from December 04, 2004 to June 17, 2007.

Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings

This particular appeal arises out of injuries allegedly sustained while the Florence Townsend (Claimant) was employed as a teller for the Employer. As a consequence of her injuries, the Claimant claimed to have sustained a permanent disability.

The course of proceedings before the Commission are very limited since the Claimant never filed a Petition to Controvert to commence litigation to allow the Commission to determine the compensation benefits to which the Claimant is entitled. The Claimant made an application for lump sum payment of indemnity benefits to the Commission. (R. 164) Upon review of the application, the Commission granted the request for lump sum payment of indemnity benefits pursuant to Miss. Code Ann § 71-3-37 (Rev. 1995)¹ (R. 171).

The Employer and Carrier promptly paid the lump sum as provided by Mississippi Code Annotated section 71-3-37 (Rev. 1995). Pursuant to the order, the Commission's Statistician provided a calculation of the benefits to be paid. The calculation performed by the Statistician erroneously contained an 8% interest in the amount of \$3,882.15. (R. 178) The

¹ Since the discussion of the applicable case law spans from 1950 to present, all citations to the Mississippi Code will use the Mississippi Code of 1972 for its references. The relevant sections were largely unchanged upon reorganization of the Mississippi Code.

Employer/Carrier paid the amount calculated, but refused to pay the erroneously added 8% interest. (R. 179).

On May 27, 2008, the Claimant filed a Motion to Compel Payments Pursuant to Order Authorizing Lump Sum Payment specifically requesting that the Employer/Carrier pay the interest from the previous calculation. (R. 181) The Employer/Carrier filed a response and on October 23, 2008, the Commission entered an Order directing the Employer/Carrier to immediately pay the Claimant \$3,882.15 in interest. (R. 185).

Upon entry of the Commission's Order, the Employer/Carrier appealed to the Circuit Court of Adams County. (R. 196). The Circuit Court of Adams County entered its judgment affirming the order of the Commission. (R. 2). It is from this order that the Employer/Carrier appeal.

Statement of Relevant Facts

As stated previously, a Petition to Controvert was never filed in this matter to commence litigation. Therefore, formal discovery was never commenced and more importantly an evidentiary hearing never took place in this matter. While there was never an evidentiary hearing, some background facts are needed to better understand the underlying action.

On or about April 29, 2002, the Claimant sustained injuries to her knee and shoulder when she tripped over a bag of nickels during the course and scope of her employment with the Employer.

After the fall, the Claimant received treatment at the emergency room for an injury to her right shoulder and an abrasion to her right knee. She subsequently had complaints of pain in her left knee. On November 1, 2002, Dr. Hamison performed surgery on the Claimant's right shoulder and left knee.

On July 7, 2003, Dr. Hamison opined that the Claimant may need knee replacements, but that they were more due to the pre-existing degenerative arthritis and not due to an exacerbation from the April 29, 2002 injury. On November 12, 2003, Dr. Hamison stated that the Claimant was at MMI, but would still need future care. Therefore, he referred the Claimant for a functional capacity evaluation. On December 16 and 17, 2003 a functional capacity evaluation was performed. This exam resulted in permanent impairment ratings of 0% to the left leg and 12% to the right arm.

Due to the Claimant's placement at MMI with impairment ratings to the scheduled members, the Claimant was entitled to twenty-one weeks of compensation for permanent disability. As of December 2004, the Claimant had been paid 66 weeks of compensation. Since the Claimant's placement at MMI by Dr. Hamison, 42 weeks over what she was entitled pursuant to her impairment rating.

Subsequent to Dr. Hamison's treatment and placement at maximum medical improvement, the Claimant's condition began to deterieorate and eventually Dr. Hamison felt that due to the Claimant's complaints she was going to be severly limited in her ability to return to work. This clarification was not received until August 16, 2006.

Following this clarification, the parties agreed to attempt to resolve the indemnity on a discounted permanent total disability lump sum. It was at this point that opposing counsel filed his application for lump sum payment leading to the issues that are now before this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In this matter, the Commission assessed the Employer/Carrier with interest. The Act does not provide the Commission with the authority to assess interest. Since the Commission is a creature of statute, it is bound by those powers given to it by the Legislature. Without the grant of authority to assess interest by the statute, the Commission has looked to case law for its authority. While it provides that years of case law support the assessment of interest in like cases, it misinterprets those cases as providing it with authority to assess interest. The Legislature provided the appellate courts with the authority to assess interest on workers compensation matters that had been appealed to them, but the authority does not even reach to the circuit court. Therefore, the Commission erred when it required the Employer/Carrier to pay interest as it was without authority to do so.

In the event that this Court finds that the Commission does have authority to assess interest, it was improper to do so in this matter. Interest should only be awarded when there has been a fact-finding making an award and dictating from when the interest accrues. In this matter interest was assessed without an evidentiary hearing and upon an application for lump sum payment by the Claimant. Further, the calculation including interest in the matter was a mere authorization of a lump sum payment and not a true award following a finding of fact. Further, recent case law provides that interest runs from the date of the filing of the petition to controvert. A petition to controvert was never filed in this matter; therefore, there is no starting point from which interest is to run.

Due to the fact that the Commission was without authority to assess interest in this matter or in the alternative improperly assessed it in this matter, the Employer/Carrier request that the decision of the Commission requiring it to pay interest be reversed and rendered.

- 4 -

i.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

An appellate court will reverse the Commission's ruling "where issues of fact are unsupported by substantial evidence, matters of law are clearly erroneous, or the decision was arbitrary and capricious." *Westmoreland v. Landmark Furniture, Inc.*, 752 So. 2d 444, 448 (¶8) (Miss. 1999). Substantial evidence is "such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion" and affords "a substantial basis of fact from which the facts and issues can be reasonably inferred." *Central Electric Power Ass'n v. Hicks*, 236 Miss. 378, 389, 110 So. 2d 351, 357 (1959). However, the review of questions of law is to be conducted under a *de novo* standard. *Bynum v. Anderson Tully Lumber Co.*, 996 So. 2d 814, 817 (¶11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008).

The question on appeal is a legal one, whether the Commission erred in requiring the Employer and Carrier to pay interest in the amount of \$3,882.15. Further, an evidentiary hearing was never conducted allowing the parties to present evidence upon which the Commission could base its findings. Therefore, the proper standard of review on this issue is *de novo*. *Id*.

B. The Commission does not have statutory authority to assess interest

The Commission is a creature of statute and as a creature of statute, it only has the power to do those things specifically set forth within the statutes that created it. Nowhere in the Mississippi Workers Compensation Act does the Commission receive authority to assess interest against a party responsible for benefits. The Commission in its order cites case law and the general interest statutes for the premise that it has been granted the authority to assess interest; however, its reliance upon case law is based upon an improper interpretation of the case law. Demonstrative of the Commission's misunderstanding of the applicable case law is the confusion it states that has arisen from the more recent developments of case law. With a proper

- 5 -

interpretation of the relevant case law, recent case law coincides with the statutory dictates and no confusion is created. The interpretation that gives clarity is that the Commission, itself, does not have the authority to assess interest in a Workers' Compensation matter. However, the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals do have the authority to assess interest upon an appeal that has made its way from the Commission to the relevant appellate court. Without the proper authority the Commission erred in assessing the Employer/Carrier with interest.

1. The Commission is a creature of statute

1

ł

The Commission was created by the Legislature in 1948 through the Mississippi Workers Compensation Act. Through this Act and its various amendments, the Commission was established to cooperate "with other state and federal authorities for the prevention of injuries and occupational diseases to workers and, in event of injury or occupational disease, their rehabilitation or restoration to health and vocational opportunity." Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-1 (Rev. 2008). When faced with issues that extend beyond those listed by the Act, the Commission has admitted that "it was well settled that the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission was a creature of statute and only had the power to do those things specifically set forth within the statutes." *Hardin's Bakery v. Taylor*, 631 So. 2d 201, 207 (Miss. 1994). While the Commission has faced several issues in which it needed to extend beyond the dictates of the Act, the Legislature amended the Act appropriately to provide the power necessary. Examples of such power are limited subpoena power and the grant of authority for the Commission to establish appropriate rules to administer evidentiary hearings. See Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-61 (Rev. 2009).

While it is possible for a creature of statute to appropriately extend beyond its statutory dictates, its limits must be closely maintained and limited to those necessarily implied. The Supreme Court specifically stated in reference to the Commission on Wildlife Conservation, a

- 6 -

separate creature of statute that "administrative agencies have only such powers as are expressly granted to them or necessarily implied, and any such power exercised must be found within the four corners of the statute under which the agency operates." *Strong v. Bostick*, 420 So. 2d 1356, 1361 (Miss. 1982).

2. No provision of the Act provides the Commission with authority to assess interest

Given that the Commission is a creature of statute limited by the power granted within the "four corners" of the Act, there is no authority in the Act that provides the Commission with the power to assess interest against a party that may or may not be liable for compensation benefits. The Commission provides in its order that "It has always been our understanding that interest accrues on all installments of compensation from the due date of each such installment until paid." (R. 187) The Commission then goes on to discuss numerous court decisions which the Commission asserts recognizes and sanctions the Commission's authority to assess interest. (R. 187-191) In fact, the Commission has to rely upon the statutory provisions of the general interest statute and interest on judgments for any statutory authority. However, even these authorities are located outside of the Act and should not be deemed to give the Commission said authority. Further, these provisions are intended to provide the circuit courts with the power to assess interest and the Commission recognizes in its order that it is not equated with a circuit court. (R. 193)

The only section of the Act that provides any authority for the assessment of interest is found in Mississippi Code Annotated § 71-3-51 (Rev. 2009). This particular section governs the parties' right to appeal the decision of the Commission to the appropriate circuit court and on to the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals. § 71-3-51. It provides in pertinent part that "Any award of compensation made by the circuit court and appealed to the Supreme Court shall bear

- 7 -

the same interest and penalties as do other judgments awarded in circuit court." *Id.* Through thorough research, it seems that the confusion of the Commission as it relates to its authority to assess interest can actually be traced to this particular statute. To be clear, it provides that interest on an award from the circuit court can be assessed with interest when appealed to the Supreme Court. *Id.* It <u>does not</u> state that the Commission can assess interest in this matter. This proposition will be discussed much more thoroughly below.

The only statutory authority that the Commission points to for the basis of interest is the general interest statute of Mississippi Code Annotated § 75-17-1 (Rev. 1999) and the interests on judgments of Mississippi Code Annotated § 75-17-7 (Rev. 1999). It is clear that these general statutes are not included in the "four corners" of the statute under which the Commission operates as provided in Strong, 420 So. 2d at 1361. The general interest statute does not convey any authority to any entity to assess interest. It merely provides the current legal rate of interest. § 75-17-1. The Commission correctly points out in its order that the rate of interest was formerly 6% and has now been raised to 8%. (R. 187). As for § 75-17-7, it provides the rate of interest on judgments and decrees. Clearly, an order from the Commission does not rise to the level of a court's judgment or decree as they are only enforceable by separate proceedings in circuit court. Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-49 (Rev. 2009). As provided before, the Commission in its own order acknowledges that it as an administrative agency is not equal to a circuit court. (R. 193) Therefore, in addition to the fact that § 75-17-7 is outside of the Act and lends no authority to the Commission, it also applies to judgments and decrees, the like of which are beyond the scope of the awards made by the Commission.

In summary, the Act that established the Commission did not and does not provide any authority for the Commission to assess interest on a party liable to provide compensation benefits.

i

3. Commission's reliance upon case law is in error due to misinterpretation

The Commission provides in its order that "it has always been our understanding that interest accrues on all installments of compensation form the due date of each installment until paid." (R. 187). As discussed before, the Commission is hard pressed to provide the statutory authority for its assertion and proceeds to cite fifteen different Supreme Court decisions for the premise that the Supreme Court has authorized the Commission to assess interest. (R. 187-192) Upon an initial glance at the various citations, they would appear to provide the very support the Commission claims. However, a thorough reading of the very authority provided by the Commission in context with the controlling statutory law paints a very different picture.

a) Case Law prior to Goodnite v. Farm Equipment Co., 234 Miss. 342, 106 So. 2d 383 (1958)

To begin this thorough review, it is best to start at the earliest case that the Commission provides, *J.&B. Manufacturing Co. v. Cochran*, 216 Miss. 336, 62 So. 2d 378 (1953). The Commission is correct in that the case provides that interest on the weekly payments "should bear interest at the rate of 6% per annum from its due date." *Id.* at 380. However, there is no mention in the opinion that the Commission assessed the interest and that the Supreme Court affirmed that award. *Id.* Instead, it was the Supreme Court that determined upon the insistence of the Appellee that is should be entitled to interest. This entitlement is easily explained via the statutory law mentioned above. § 71-3-51 provides that upon appeal of an award from the circuit court award. In this particular case, the Commission awarded benefits, the circuit court affirmed the award of benefits, and the Supreme Court also affirmed the award of benefits. Upon its award, the Supreme Court applied its authority from § 71-3-51 and using §75-17-1 and § 75-17-7 for the assessment of interest. Since the circuit court made an award, the Supreme Court acting within

its statutory authority assessed interest due to the appeal. This did not mean that the Commission was given authority to assess interest. Further evidence of the Supreme Court's reasoning can be found in the discussion regarding the penalties that were requested. Statutory authority which was repealed in 2003 provided that damages of 5% could be awarded by the Supreme Court for unsuccessful or non-prosecuting appellants. The shear fact that both of these two topics, penalties and interest, are discussed in the same context further lends support at the method by which the Supreme Court assessed interest, namely through the authority of § 71-3-51.

The second case that the Commission cites to is *M.T. Reed Const. Co. v. Martin*, 215 Miss. 472, 63 So. 2d 528 (1953). In this case, a nearly identical result occurred, except the issue of interest was addressed via a motion to correct the judgment. The Commission awarded benefits and the circuit court upheld the award. *Id.* Further, the Supreme Court affirmed both lower holdings. On the motion to correct the judgment, Martin, the Appellee, requested that penalties and interest be assessed. The Supreme Court in this case actually referenced § 71-3-51 for the assessment of interest upon appeal. The Court went on to say:

the effect of the amendment was to place awards of compensation made by judgment of the circuit court in the same category as other judgments of the circuit court, and to provide that in the event of an affirmance of an appeal therefrom to the Supreme Court, the same shall bear the *same* interest and penalties as do *other* judgments of the circuit court.

Id. at 531. Clearly, the Supreme Court interpreting the statute as it applies to circuit courts should not be a grant of authority to the Commission to assess interest.

The Commission goes on to cite several additional cases that it claims support the Commission's ability to assess interest. However, each of the cases cited merely reaffirm the principles discussed in *Martin* and *Cochran*. To be clear, each case cited by the Commission in support of its opinion does provide an assessment of interest, but the interest is assessed by the Supreme Court and not the Commission. Please see the following: Russell v. Southeastern Utilities Service Co., 230 Miss. 272, 284, 92 So. 2d 877, 878 (1957) (The Commission awarded benefits, was reversed by the circuit court, and the award was reinstated by the Supreme Court. The Supreme Court cited to Martin and Cochran for support of penalties and interest); U.S.F.G. Co. v. Collins, 231 Miss. 319, 96 So. 2d 456 (1957) (Supreme Court assessing penalties and interest following modification of circuit court award); Dependants of Harris v. Suggs, 233 Miss. 533, 540, 102 So. 2d 696, 698 (1958) (Commission award, affirmance by circuit court, and modification by Supreme Court assessing interest pursuant to Cochran and Martin); Grubbs v. Revell Furniture Co., 234 Miss. 319, 325, 106 So. 2d 390, 393 (1958) (Commission award, reversal by circuit court, and reinstatement by Supreme Court citing Martin and Cochran for assessing interest); Central Electric Power Association v. Hicks, 236 Miss. 378, 394, 112 So. 2d 230, 231 (1959) (Commission award, affirmance by circuit court, and affirmance by Supreme Court with assessment of interest and penalties); Fair Stores v. Bryant, 238 Miss. 434, 443 118 So. 2d 295, 299-300 (1960) (Commission award, affirmance by circuit court, and affirmance by Supreme Court with assessment of interest).

Not once in the plethora of case law cited by the Commission was it able to show an affirmance of an assessment of interest **by the Commission**. The majority of the time, the assessment of interest was requested via a motion to assess interest in the matter after the appeal was completed. Having addressed the history of the assessment of interest by the Supreme Court and laying the foundation for the case law to this point, we can address the seminal case of *Goodnite v. Farm Equipment Co.*, 234 Miss. 342, 106 So. 2d 383 (1958).

b) Decision of Goodnite

The Commission speaks at length as to the impact that Goodnite has in providing the

Commission with the authority to assess interest. The distinction between *Goodnite* and the cases discussed above is the procedural history in that the Commission denied the Claimant any benefits and the Circuit Court affirmed that denial. Previously, the cases involving an assessment of interest involved the Supreme Court affirming the circuit court's award or reinstating the Commission's award of benefits. This was the first time that the Supreme Court addressed the issue of how § 71-3-51 applies when there had not been an award of benefits before the matter reached the Supreme Court. The Commission views the discussion by the Supreme Court as the basis for its own authority to assess interest; however, the Supreme Court was merely addressing its own authority to assess interest when both the Commission and circuit court have denied benefits to a Claimant.

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