IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2010-WC-00535-COA

BRITTON & KOONTZ BANK, N.A. AND AMFED NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

FLORENCE TOWNSEND

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

John T. Ball, MSB Attorney for Appellee P. O. Box 2037 Natchez, MS 39121 (601)-442-0952

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2010-WC-00535-COA

BRITTON & KOONTZ BANK, N.A.
AND
AMFED NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

FLORENCE TOWNSEND

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

For nearly forty years the law was clear in Mississippi regarding when interest begins to accrue in a workers' compensation claim. The relevant cases provided for damages for the unsuccessful appeals prosecuted by the Employer and Carrier. Concerning interest, the Courts consistently held that each weekly installment should bear interest from its due date until paid.

The rationale for requiring the Employer and Carrier to pay interest on each unpaid installment of benefits is based on the premise that the liability of the Employer for workers' compensation benefits was in the nature of a debt to the Claimant, in the nature of a note, account or contract. The obligation was in the nature of a debt partially by the virtue of the contract. *Goodnite v Farm Equipment Co.*, 234 Miss. 342, 106 So. 2d 383 (1958), error overruled 234 Miss. 342, 106 So2d 683 (1958). The statutory basis for this premise is Miss. Code Section 75-17-1 (1) (Rev. 1999), which provides interest at 8% per annum on all notes, accounts and contracts.

In 1989, the Mississippi legislature amended Miss. Code Annotated, Section 75-17-7, (Supp. 1991), which is the statute on accrual of interest on judgments. The first sentence was not changed in regard to judgments founded on contract; however, the part related to interest on judgments in civil actions was amended significantly.

In 1992, the Mississippi Supreme Court decided two cases which are responsible for the dispute between the parties in this case. In *Smith v Jackson Construction Co.*, 607 So. 2d 1119 (Miss. 1992) and *Lanterman v Roadway Express, Inc.*, 608 So. 2d 1340 (Miss. 1992), the Court did not acknowledge that the 1989 amendment to Section 75-17-7 did not change the prior law on accrual of interest on workers' compensation benefits under Section 75-17-1(1). The Court

interpreted the amendment to Miss. Code Annotated Section 75-17-7 (Supp. 1991) and limited the imposition of interest in those cases from the date that the Petition to Controvert was filed.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals returned to the wisdom of the former cases in *Cooper Lighting H.I.D. v Briscoe*, 749 So. 2d 199 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) where the Court of Appeals ordered interest be awarded for all unpaid installments of temporary total disability benefits and permanent partial disability benefits to run on each unpaid installment from the due date through date of payment.

ARGUMENT

The Mississippi Supreme Court has repeatedly ruled that when an Employer and Carrier is obligated to pay workers' compensation benefits and does not pay them in a timely manner, interest accrues on the obligation from the date of each unpaid installment until paid. One of the earliest cases that espoused this rule of law was *M.T. Reed Const. Co. v Martin*, 63 So.2d 528 (Miss. 1953), where the Mississippi Supreme Court entered Judgment for damages of 5% for the unsuccessful appeal prosecuted by the Employer and also allowed for interest on weekly installments of compensation that had accrued but remained unpaid at the time of the decision. Concerning interest, the Court held that "each weekly installment shall bear interest at the rate of six percent per annum from its due date until paid." 63 So. 2d at 530, 532.

Many other cases followed the doctrine set out by the Supreme Court in the *Reed* case (Supra) over the next forty years. In each case the Court entered an Order awarding interest from the due date of each weekly installment of compensation until paid. Again, this award was made in addition to the penalty assessed due to the unsuccessful appeal. Some of the relevant cases are as follows:

- 1. Russell v Southeastern Utilities Service Co., 92 So.2d 877, 878 (Miss. 1957)
- 2, U.S.F.G. Co. v Collins, 96 So.2d 456 (Miss. 1957)
- 3. Dependents of Harris v Suggs, 102 So.2d 696, 698 (Miss. 1958)
- 4. Grubbs v Revell Furniture Co., 106 So.2d 390, 393 (Miss. 1958)
- 5. Central Electric Power Association v Hicks, 112 So.2d 230, 231 (Miss. 1959)
- 6. Fair Stores v Bryant, 118 So.2d 295, 299-300 (Miss. 1960)
- 7. Davis v Clark-Burt Roofing Co., 119 So.2d 926, 927 (Miss. 1960)
- 8. Morgan, Jones and Gillis v Elmore, 144 So.2d 785 (Miss. 1962)
- 9. Cooper's, Inc. of Mississippi v Long, 224 So. 2d 866 (Miss. 1969)
- 10. Riverside of Marks v Russell, 324 So.2d 759, 764 (Miss. 1975)
- 11. South Cent. Bell Telephone Co. v Aden, 474 So.2d 584, 598 (Miss. 1985)
- 12. M & J Oil Co. v Dependents of Wilson, 507 So. 2d 1292, 1293 (Miss. 1987)

In Goodnite v Farm Equipment Co., 106 So.2d 383 (Miss. 1958), the Miss. Supreme Court explained the reasons for the accrual of interest regarding workers' compensation benefits. The Court stated, "Interest in a case of this kind is not imposed as a penalty for wrongdoing; it is allowed as compensation for the detention of money overdue." The Employer denied responsibility for payment of installments of compensation and was later held liable for benefits. The Claimant was deprived of the use of the money from the time that the benefits should have been paid. The Court in the Goodnite case stated the following:

Interest in a case of this kind is not imposed as a penalty for wrong doing; it is allowed as compensation for the detention of money overdue. *Miller v Henry*, 139 Miss. 651, 103 So. 203; *Rubel v Rubel*, 221 Miss. 848, 75 So. 2d 59, 47 A. L. R. 2d 1410.

In other jurisdictions, in which workmen's compensation acts have no provision with respect to interest, the general interest statute has been applied. See Sunny Point Packing Co. v Faigh, 9 Cir., 1933, 63 F. 2d 921, and cases cited. Section 36, Code of 1942, provides that: 'The legal rate of interest on all notes, accounts and contracts shall be six per cent per annum; but contracts may be made, in writing, for a payment of a rate of interest as great as eight per centum per annum.

Section 6998-19, Code of 1942, which requires that compensation be paid 'periodically, promptly, in the usual manner, and directly to the person entitled thereto,' creates a liability upon the employer immediately upon the death of the employee for payment according to the terms of the statute and a right in the beneficiary or beneficiaries to that payment. The liability of the employer is of the nature of a debt, and the right of the beneficiary is that of a creditor in that debt. The liability is as definitely fixed as to amount, time and binding force, as if the employer had executed its notes due for the payment prescribed. The employer has the right under the statute to contest the matter of those payments before the commission and in the courts. If it can show that the injury or death does not come within the law, it escapes all payment and all liability for all payment; but when it contests such payments, and the courts decide that the injury or death comes within the provisions of the law, the judgment relates by the force of the statute to the time prescribed by the statute. Interest is due from the date of the maturity of each unpaid payment on the sum due. See Consolidated Underwriters v Saxon, Tex. Com. App. 1924, 265 S. W. 143.

In this case interest at the rate of six per cent per annum was due the claimants on the unpaid installments from the due date of each installment, as fixed by the statute, to the date of payment. The motion to correct judgment, so as to provide that each weekly installment of the award of death benefits shall bear interest at the rate of six percent per annum from its due date until paid, is therefore sustained, and the attorney's fee heretofore allowed shall include 33-1/3% of the amount of interest thus accrued.

Authors Bradley and Thompson in their treatise on Mississippi Workers' Compensation viewed the Goodnite case as a finding by the Court that the liability of the employer for workers' compensation benefits was in the nature of a debt to the claimant, in the nature of a note, account or contract. "The obligation is in the nature of a debt partially by virtue of the contract of employment, a basis of workers' compensation coverage, as modified by the workers' compensation law in a way which creates a larger employment contract." Bradley and Thompson, Mississippi Workers' Compensation, Section 6:41 at page 387. Professor Bradley and Judge

Thompson argue that there is a statutory basis for accrual of interest on unpaid workers' compensation benefits, which is found in the general law and not the workers' compensation law. The general interest statute found that Miss. Code Annotated Section 75-17-1, (Rev. 2000), provides for the accrual of interest on the underlying obligation to pay workers' compensation benefits from the time that payment becomes due. The authors further interpreted the Court's ruling in *Goodnite v Farm Equipment Co.*, 234 Miss. 342, 106 So.2d 393 (1958), stating:

The workers' compensation law provides that the employer must pay workers' compensation benefits "periodically, promptly, in the usual manner, and directly to the person entitled thereto, without an award except where liability to pay compensation is controverted [disputed] by the employer." Workers' compensation benefits "become due on the fourteenth day after the employer has notice . . . of the injury or death, on which date all compensation then due shall be paid," and after that first installment of compensation, remaining installments must be paid every 14 days unless the Commission specifies a different time. Interest thus accrues on each unpaid biweekly installment of benefits beginning with the due date of each unpaid installment and continuing until paid.

Section 75-17-1(1), Miss. Code Annotated (Rev. 2000), provides for the accrual of interest from the time payment is due until payment is made.

In 1989, the Mississippi legislature amended Section 75-17-1 which is the statute regarding accrual of interest on judgments. The first sentence was not changed in regard to judgments founded on contracts, but the part relating to interest on judgments on civil actions was amended significantly. In the case of *Smith v Jackson Const. Co.*, 607 So. 2d 1119 (Miss. 1992), the Mississippi Supreme Court failed to note that the amendment to Section 75-17-7 did not change the prior law on accrual of interest and workers' compensation benefits under Section 75-17-1(1). The Court interpreted the 1989 amendment to Section 75-17-7 to limit Claimants entitlement to interest only from the date that the action was first instituted.

Professor Bradley and Judge Thompson disagreed with and were critical of the ruling of the Court in *Smith v Jackson Construction* (Supra). In their treatise, Bradley and Thompson,

<u>Mississippi Workers' Compensation</u> 6:41 at page 390 state:

One obvious problem with this statement, even if one were to (incorrectly) equate a petition to controvert to a complaint in a civil action, is that it flies directly in the face of the language of the 1989 amendment to Section 75-17-7 which limits its application to causes of action accruing on or after July 1, 1989. Lanterman filed his petition to controvert in 1980, and Smith in 1986.

Second, a complaint is a pleading initiating a civil action in the judicial system. A petition to controvert at the Commission, an administrative agency in the executive branch of the state government, is not a complaint in a civil action nor should it be considered comparable. Third, the *Smith* and *Lanterman* cases ignore the long-established line of cases in which the court applied the general interest statute, Section 75-17-1(1) to determine that interest accrues from the due date of the underlying obligation.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals returned to the wisdom of the former cases in *Cooper Lighting H.I.D. v Briscoe*, 749 So. 2d 199 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). The Court did not discuss the issue of interest in its opinion but worded the judgment as follows:

The judgment of the Circuit Court of Warren County affirming the decision of the Workers' Compensation Commission is affirmed. Statutory penalties and interest are allowed on the award of temporary total disability and on all installments of permanent partial disability which have accrued prior to the issuance of the mandate in this proceeding. Interest is to run on each unpaid installment from the due date through date of payment. (Emphasis added).

REQUEST FOR PENALTIES PURSUANT TO SECTION 75-17-7, MISS. CODE ANNOTATED, AS REVISED

The Appellee, Florence Townsend, submits that this Court should assess additional interest and penalties to her pursuant to Miss. Code Annotated, Section 71-3-51 (1972), if the Court in its wisdom deems that the case should be affirmed. This statute states: "Any award of compensation made by the Circuit Court and appealed to the Court shall bear the same interest and penalties as due other judgments awarded in the Circuit Court."

CONCLUSION

For nearly forty years the law was clear in Mississippi regarding when interest begins to accrue in a workers' compensation claim. The courts consistently held that each weekly installment should bear interest from its due date until paid. The rationale is based on the premises that the liability of the employer for workers' compensation benefits is the nature of a debt to the Claimant, in the nature of a note, account or contract. The employer and carrier have an obligation to pay benefits timely to a Claimant. The employer and carrier should not be rewarded for unilaterally terminating benefits that are due to a Claimant. Therefore, interest should accrue on all past due installments of compensation from the due date of each installment until paid regardless of whether the obligation to pay is assumed voluntarily, or arises from an award, judgment or decree.

The Appellee, Florence Townsend, submits that the ruling of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission granting her interest at the rate of 8% per annum on the unpaid and past due installments of compensation be affirmed. The Appellee further requests additional relief pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. Section 75-17-7, as revised.